
SUPREME COURT NO. ________ 

NO.  75739-3-I 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, 

Respondent, 

v. 

BURRELL CUSHMAN,  

Petitioner. 

____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE 

STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY 

The Honorable Catherine Shaffer, Judge  

____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

PETITION FOR REVIEW 

____________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________ 

MARY T. SWIFT 

Attorney for Petitioner 

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 

1908 East Madison 

Seattle, WA 98122 

(206) 623-2373

FILED 
Court of Appeals 

Division I 
State of Washington 
7/25/2018 10:43 AM 

96140-9



 -i-  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

Page 

 

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS  

 DECISION ...................................................................................... 1 

 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW .......................................... 1 

 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE ....................................................... 1 

 

 1. Trial Evidence ........................................................................... 2 

 

 2. Appellate Proceedings .............................................................. 7 

 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED .......... 9 

 

 1. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO  

  DETERMINE WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL  

  WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO IMPEACH  

  A CRITICAL STATE WITNESS WITH A PRIOR  

  CONVICTION. ......................................................................... 9 

 

 2. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO  

  DETERMINE WHETHER COUNSEL WAS  

  INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO MAKE A VIABLE  

  SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT ARGUMENT AT  

  SENTENCING. ...................................................................... 14 

 

 3. THIS COURT SHOULD ALSO ACCEPT REVIEW OF  

  CUSHMAN’S CHALLENGE IN HIS STATEMENT OF  

  ADDITIONAL GROUNDS FO REVIEW. ............................ 19 

 

E. CONCLUSION ............................................................................. 20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 -ii-  

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 

Page 

WASHINGTON CASES 

 

State v. Adcock 

36 Wn. App. 699, 676 P.2d 1040 (1984) .................................................. 18 

 

State v. Alexis 

95 Wn.2d 15, 621 P.2d 1269 (1980). ........................................................ 11 

 

State v. Brown 

159 Wn. App. 1, 248 P.3d 518 (2010) ...................................................... 17 

 

State v. Burns 

114 Wn.2d 314, 788 P.2d 531 (1990) ....................................................... 18 

 

State v. Chenoweth 

185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016) ............................................ 9, 17, 18, 19 

 

State v. Dunaway 

109 Wn.2d 207, 743 P.2d 1237, 749 P.2d 160 (1988) ................ 9, 17, 18, 19 

 

State v. Estes 

188 Wn.2d 450, 395 P.3d 1045 (2017) ..................................................... 12 

 

State v. Fedoruk 

184 Wn. App. 866, 339 P.3d 233 (2014) .................................................. 12 

 

State v. Garza-Villarreal 

123 Wn.2d 42, 864 P.2d 1378 (1993) ....................................................... 16 

 

State v. Moreno 

132 Wn. App. 663, 132 P.3d 1137 (2006) ........................................ 8, 15, 16 

 

State v. Phuong 

174 Wn. App. 494, 299 P.3d 37 (2013) .................................................... 15 

 

State v. Ray 

116 Wn.2d 531, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991). .................................................... 11 

 

 



 -iii-  

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) 

Page 

State v. Saunders 

120 Wn. App. 800, 86 P.3d 232 (2004). ................................................... 15 

 

State v. Thomas 

109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) ............................................. 9, 13, 14 

 

State v. Ward 

148 Wn.2d 803, 64 P.3d 640 (2003) ......................................................... 16 

 

State v. Yarbrough 

151 Wn. App. 66, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009) .................................................. 10 

 

 

FEDERAL CASES 

 

Roe v. Flores-Ortega 

528 U.S. 470, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000) ........................ 10 

 

Strickland v. Washington 

466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) .......... 9, 10, 12, 14 

 

 

RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES 

 

11 WASH. PRACTICE, WASH. PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS: 

CRIMINAL 5.06 (4th ed. 2016) (WPIC) ..................................................... 11 

 

CrR 4.7 ...................................................................................................... 12 

 

ER 609 ...................................................................................................... 11 

 

RAP 13.4 ......................................................................................... 1, 14, 19 

 

RCW 9.94A.411.................................................................................. 15, 16 

 

RCW 9.94A.589.................................................................................. 15, 18 

 

RCW 9A.44.079........................................................................................ 18 

 



 -iv-  

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONT'D) 

Page 

 

RCW 9A.64.020........................................................................................ 18 

 

RCW 26.50.060 ........................................................................................ 17 

 

RCW 26.50.110 .................................................................................. 15, 16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 -1-  

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER/COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Burrell Cushman asks this Court to grant review of the 

court of appeals’ unpublished decision in State v. Cushman, No. 75739-3-I, 

filed June 25, 2018 (attached as an appendix).  

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is this Court’s review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) to 

determine whether defense counsel was ineffective for inexplicably failing to 

impeach an important State witness with a prior crime of dishonesty? 

2. Is this Court’s review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b)(4), to determine whether second degree murder and felony violation of a 

no-contact order may encompass the same criminal conduct where they both 

arise from the same act of strangling the protected party? 

3. Should this Court also review the issue Cushman raised in his 

Statement of Additional Grounds for Review? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The State charged Cushman with one count of second degree 

murder, one count of first degree attempted arson, and one count of felony 

violation of a court order (FVNCO).  CP 10-11.  The State alleged that on 

January 5, 2014, Cushman either intentionally or in the course and in 

furtherance of a second degree assault caused the death of Amy Hargrove—

conduct that also violated a protection order in place.  CP 10.  A jury 
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convicted Cushman of second degree murder and FVNCO, but acquitted 

him of attempted first degree arson.  CP 43-44.   

1. Trial Evidence 

Cushman and Hargrove met and began dating in 2008.  8RP 491; Ex. 

36, at 3.  They had a son together, L.W., in November of 2010.  1RP 34-36; 

6RP 200-01; 8RP 491-93.  The trial court admitted prior incidents of 

domestic violence between Cushman and Hargrove as evidence of motive.  

1RP 110-19; CP 56.  Hargrove’s coworker testified Cushman came to 

Hargrove’s workplace several times, upset and intoxicated, and would yell at 

her and one time threatened to kill her if she took L.W. away from him.  8RP 

492-95.  Hargrove’s mother, Janet Ford, recalled an incident where Cushman 

punched Hargrove in the face.  6RP 203-04. 

Hargrove eventually ended their relationship and, in May of 2013, 

obtained a one-year no-contact order against Cushman, protecting her and 

L.W.  9RP 619-20; 10RP 763-65; Ex. 30.  In November of 2013, Hargrove 

and Cushman began rekindling their relationship.  9RP 623; 10RP 788.  At 

the time, Hargrove lived with L.W. in the mother-in-law apartment attached 

to Ford’s house in Kirkland.  6RP 199-207.   

On the weekend of January 4-5, 2014, Hargrove and Cushman 

dropped off L.W. with Paula.  9RP 623-26.  Hargrove and Cushman went on 

a date and afterwards returned to Hargrove’s apartment, where Cushman 
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spent the night.  13RP 1112-13; Ex. 36, at 15-17.  Cushman acknowledged 

this contact violated the protection order in place.  12RP 1095. 

Police later attempted to construct a timeline of January 5, 2014, the 

date of Hargrove’s death.  On Hargrove’s digital camera were three self-

portrait photos of Hargrove showing her hair pulled back, taken at 2:49 p.m. 

and 2:50 p.m. on January 5.  7RP 406-12; 10RP 874-76.  She appeared to be 

wearing the sweatshirt in which she was later found deceased.  7RP 411-13.   

A friend of Cushman’s received a brief phone call from Cushman on 

Hargrove’s cell phone at 3:32 p.m.  9RP 608-12; 10RP 874-76.  No more 

calls were made from Hargrove’s phone after that and a call to Hargrove’s 

phone went unanswered at 6:27 p.m.  10RP 792-99.  At 3:47 p.m., Ford 

received a text message from Hargrove stating, “I’m about to lay down for a 

nap, my meds are kicking in.”  6RP 219-20; 10RP 801-02.  Ford responded 

but did not receive a reply from Hargrove.  6RP 220-21.  Hargrove did not 

read or send any more text messages.  10RP 801-03. 

A neighbor arrived home around 3:55 p.m. and noticed Cushman’s 

car parked on the street.  8RP 528-30; 10RP 874.  He could not say when the 

car left, except that it was gone by the following morning.  8RP 530-32. 

Cushman called Paula from his father’s house at 4:38 p.m., upset and 

crying.  9RP 629-30; 10RP 842, 878-79.  Paula testified Cushman “said that 

he had a bad feeling,” because he and Hargrove had gotten into a fight where 
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they were pushing and yelling, so he left Hargrove’s apartment.  9RP 630-

32.  Paula explained Cushman’s “bad feeling” was that Hargrove might turn 

him in for violating the restraining order.  9RP 630-31, 638.   

At 5:49 p.m., Cushman texted Hargrove from his father’s phone, 

“I’m home.  If you want me to come back, just let me know.”  10RP 834-36.  

Cushman called Hargrove’s number at 10:10 a.m. on January 6, but 

Hargrove did not answer.  10RP 832-33. 

Ford discovered Hargrove deceased in her apartment in the early 

afternoon on January 6, 2014 and called 911.  6RP 221-25.  Police and 

emergency medical personnel observed petechial hemorrhaging on 

Hargrove’s face and neck, which can indicate strangulation.  6RP 182-86; 

7RP 393-95.  They also noted lividity, or the pooling of blood in the body 

due to gravity, and rigor mortis, both of which indicated Hargrove had been 

deceased for some time.  6RP 239; 7RP 259-61.  Hargrove was pronounced 

dead at the scene.  6RP 239-40. 

The responding personnel found cooking oil on the kitchen floor, 

cabinets, and ceiling of Hargrove’s apartment, as well as a pot on the stove 

with one burner still on.  6RP 186-88, 195-96, 240-41; 7RP 262-63, 295-98.  

A mostly empty bottle of vegetable oil was found nearby.  7RP 375.  Police 

found no signs of forced entry into Hargrove’s apartment, but also noted the 

front door and back sliding glass door were unlocked.  7RP 353-60. 
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Bonnie DeMarce was with Cushman and their friend Darryl Jones, 

on January 6, when Paula called Cushman to come to the police station.  

8RP 461, 477-78.  DeMarce testified that, en route to the station, Cushman 

told Jones, “It is okay, I did something really stupid. It is okay I -- I covered 

it up.”  8RP 480.   

Cushman willingly spoke to two detectives for five hours.  10RP 

709-13; 12RP 1090-96.  Cushman spoke with the detectives for nearly two 

hours the following day, as well.  10RP 732-33; 13RP 1121-22.  Cushman 

freely told them he was at Hargrove’s apartment on January 5.  13RP 1114.  

He explained he and Hargrove fought on Sunday, but he left sometime 

between 3:00 and 3:30 p.m., maybe as late as 4:00 p.m., and Hargrove was 

still alive.  13RP 1114; Ex. 36, at 18-19, 86-88; Ex. 37, at 32, 36.   

Cushman explained he then went to his father’s house in South 

Seattle, where he called his mother and texted Hargrove.  13RP 1114-15.  

Cushman’s father and his father’s girlfriend testified Cushman arrived home 

on January 5 sometime between 4:20 and 4:35 p.m.  13RP 1189, 1195.  

Cushman denied killing Hargrove, asking the detectives why he would want 

to kill his son’s mother.  Ex. 36, at 121-22, 129. 

King County Medical Examiner Timothy Williams determined the 

cause of Hargrove’s death was asphyxia due to strangulation, possibly with 

Hargrove’s sweatshirt used as a ligature.  12RP 1027, 1050-57.  Williams 
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noted Hargrove’s had scrapes on her back and neck, as well as some bruising 

on her face, suggesting a struggle occurred.  12RP 1040-47, 1053-55, 1070-

71.  On the death certificate, Williams estimated Hargrove’s time of death to 

be 6:00 p.m. on January 5.  12RP 1058.  At trial, however, he claimed for the 

first time that Hargrove’s death likely occurred between 3:00 and 6:00 p.m.  

12RP 1060-77; Ex. 39, at 6. 

Police canvassed Hargrove’s neighborhood.  7RP 316, 325-28; 8RP 

517-19.  Several neighbors noted a white male around 5'8" or 5'9" tall with a 

medium build and shoulder length hair leaving Hargrove’s apartment at 

various times, possibly on January 5.  8RP 546-51, 557, 563-64.  One 

neighbor described the individual as “unnerving.”  8RP 556.  The description 

did not match Cushman.  10RP 770-75; 15RP 1310-11; Ex. 30.   

Forensic scientists could not match any fingerprints or DNA 

collected from the stove knobs or oil bottle inside Hargrove’s apartment.  

11RP 938-45, 982-85.  Cushman’s DNA was found under Hargrove’s right 

fingernails, though the DNA could have been deposited through non-violent 

contact, like if Hargrove scratched Cushman’s back or rubbed his head.  

11RP 956-58, 972-74. 

A YSTR profile from Hargrove’s sweatshirt hood and upper zipper 

area matched Cushman.  11RP 992-95.  This meant neither Cushman nor his 

paternal relatives, including L.W., could be excluded as a donor of the male 
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DNA.  11RP 992.  DNA consistent with saliva found on Hargrove’s neck 

also matched Cushman and L.W.  11RP 996-97, 1002.  The DNA analyst 

acknowledged sharing a household can result in DNA transfer.  11RP 1008-

012.  Finally, there were trace DNA components from two males other than 

Cushman and L.W. on Hargrove’s sweatshirt.  11RP 992-95, 1002-07.   

The defense theory was that an unknown assailant strangled 

Hargrove to death after Cushman left her apartment on January 5.  Defense 

counsel noted Cushman fully cooperated with the police from the outset.  

15RP 1288, 1318.  Counsel pointed to the other male DNA found on 

Hargrove’s sweatshirt, as well as the signs of struggle on Hargrove’s body.  

15RP 1281-88.  Cushman’s DNA on Hargrove’s sweatshirt and body could 

have been deposited by innocent contact or by L.W.  15RP 1289-93.  

Counsel further pointed out the medical examiner changed his time of death 

estimation only after the State learned Cushman left Hargrove’s apartment 

by about 4:00 p.m.  15RP 1295-1301.  Finally, counsel emphasized the 

unsettling man not matching Cushman’s description seen leaving Hargrove’s 

place, who police never investigated.  15RP 1310-11. 

2. Appellate Proceedings 

On appeal, Cushman made several arguments, two of which are 

included in this petition and addressed here.  First, he argued his trial counsel 
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was ineffective for inexplicably failing to investigate or impeach Bonnie 

DeMarce with a prior crime of dishonesty.  Br. of Appellant, 21-27.   

The court of appeals rejected Cushman’s argument, believing there 

were several tactical reasons for counsel’s failure.  Opinion, 13.  For 

instance, the court reasoned such impeachment would not advance the 

defense theory that Cushman had been present with Hargrove on January 5 

but had not murdered her.  Opinion, 13.  Alternatively, the court believed it 

was “a conceivable legitimate tactic to refrain from impeaching a witness 

with such an old and minor conviction . . . .”  Opinion, 13.  The court also 

found defense counsel’s failing to not be prejudicial, given the other 

evidence supporting Cushman’s guilt.  Opinion, 13-14. 

Second, Cushman argued his trial counsel was ineffective for failing 

to argue at sentencing that his two current offenses constituted the same 

criminal conduct, where they were both based on the same act and intent to 

strangle Hargrove.  Br. of Appellant, 32-42. 

The court likewise rejected Cushman’s argument, first pointing to its 

decision in State v. Moreno, 132 Wn. App. 663, 132 P.3d 1137 (2006), 

which held FVNCO is a crime against the court.  Opinion, 19.  “Hence,” the 

court concluded, “because these crimes do not involve the same victim, they 

do not encompass the same criminal conduct.”  Opinion, 19.   
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With regard to criminal intent, the court noted appellate counsel 

posited “an inspired argument” “highlighting the seeming inconsistencies 

between our Supreme Court’s decisions in State v. Chenoweth,185 Wn.2d 

218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016), and State v. Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d 207, 743 P.2d 

1237, 749 P.2d 160 (1988).”  Opinion, 19.  Instead of grappling with these 

inconsistencies, though, the court concluded “the Constitution does not 

require appointed counsel to be inspired.  It requires counsel to be, at least, 

reasonably competent.”  Opinion, 19.  The court saw “no indication that 

[trial] counsel’s performance fell below that standard.”  Opinion, 19. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO 

DETERMINE WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS 

INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO IMPEACH A 

CRITICAL STATE WITNESS WITH A PRIOR 

CONVICTION. 

 

Every accused person enjoys the right to effective assistance of 

counsel.  Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 

80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 

816 (1987).  That right is violated when (1) the attorney’s performance was 

deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the accused.  Strickland, 466 U.S. 

at 687; Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26.   

Defense counsel’s performance is deficient when it falls below an 

objective standard of reasonableness.  Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 226.  If 
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counsel’s conduct demonstrates a legitimate trial strategy or tactic, it 

cannot serve as a basis for an ineffective assistance claim.  Strickland, 466 

U.S. at 689; State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 90, 210 P.3d 1029 

(2009).  “The relevant question is not whether counsel’s choices were 

strategic, but whether they were reasonable.”  Roe v. Flores-Ortega, 528 

U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000). 

Before Bonnie DeMarce testified, the State asked if there were 

“any 609 convictions the defense wanted to get into.”  8RP 450.  Defense 

counsel noted his belief that DeMarce had a pending misdemeanor theft 

conviction.  8RP 450-51.  Counsel explained, “I didn’t plan on going into 

anything.”  8RP 451.  Counsel admitted, however, “I confess, I have not 

checked recently.”  8RP 451.   

On direct-examination, the State did not ask DeMarce about any of 

her prior convictions.  See 8RP 460-87.  Nor did defense counsel inquire on 

cross-examination.  See 8RP 487-89.  Before recessing for the day, the trial 

court noted DeMarce had a third degree theft conviction from 2007.  8RP 

572-73.  The court noted DeMarce also had a pending theft case that had not 

yet been resolved.  8RP 572.  The court offered to allow the parties to 

stipulate to the prior 2007 conviction.  8RP 572-73.  No stipulation was 

offered throughout the rest of trial.  Based on his prior statements, defense 

counsel appeared to be unaware of DeMarce’s prior 2007 theft conviction.   
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ER 609(a) provides that prior convictions are admissible “[f]or the 

purpose of attacking the credibility of a witness in a criminal or civil case.”  

This includes prior convictions for “dishonesty or false statement, regardless 

of punishment,” which occurred within the past 10 years.  ER 609(a)(2), (b).  

“[C]rimes of theft involve dishonesty and are per se admissible for 

impeachment purposes under ER 609(a)(2).”  State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 

545, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991).  DeMarce’s third degree theft conviction from 

2007 was therefore admissible as a crime of dishonesty under ER 609(a)(2). 

The purpose of admitting impeachment evidence like ER 609 

convictions is to aid the trier of fact in assessing the truth of the witness’s 

testimony.  State v. Alexis, 95 Wn.2d 15, 19, 621 P.2d 1269 (1980).  When 

such convictions are admitted, the trial court should instruct the jury, in part, 

that it may consider the evidence “in deciding what weight or credibility to 

give to the testimony of the witness.”  11 WASH. PRACTICE, WASH. PATTERN 

JURY INSTRUCTIONS: CRIMINAL 5.06 (4th ed. 2016) (WPIC).   

The court of appeals conceived of several tactical reasons for defense 

counsel’s failure to impeach DeMarce with her prior theft conviction.  

Opinion, 13.  However, the record suggests counsel was unaware of the 2007 

theft conviction.  4RP 450-51.  Courts will generally not hold deficient a 

defense attorney’s strategic choice made after a thorough investigation of the 

law and facts.  State v. Fedoruk, 184 Wn. App. 866, 880, 339 P.3d 233 
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(2014).  “Where an attorney makes strategic choices ‘after less than 

complete investigation,’ however, a reviewing court will consider them 

reasonable only ‘to the extent that reasonable professional judgments support 

the limitations on investigation.’”  Id. at 880-81 (quoting Strickland, 466 

U.S. at 690-91).   

The State is obligated to disclose any prior criminal convictions its 

witnesses have.  CrR 4.7(a)(1)(vi).  As such, it is not overly burdensome for 

defense counsel to investigate such information and be prepared to impeach 

witnesses with their prior crimes of dishonesty.  Defense counsel’s failure is 

analogous to the recent decision in State v. Estes, 188 Wn.2d 450, 461, 395 

P.3d 1045 (2017), where this Court took defense counsel “at his word” that 

he was not aware his client has been convicted of a third strike.  Similarly, 

this Court should take Cushman’s counsel “at his word” when he appeared 

to be unaware of DeMarce’s prior crime of dishonesty.  See 8RP 450-51.   

At best, counsel was aware of the prior theft conviction, had an 

opportunity to ask DeMarce about it on cross-examination, but inexplicably 

did not do so.  DeMarce’s prior conviction would have been useful evidence 

to help the jury in assessing the truth of her testimony, which was a 

significant component of the State’s case.  And, contrary to the court of 

appeals’ decision, impeachment would have been entirely consistent with 

Cushman’s defense that he did not kill Hargrove—DeMarce must have been 
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mistaken or lying about what she heard.  There is no reasonable explanation 

for defense counsel’s failure to either investigate or impeach.  

Prejudice occurs when there is a reasonable probability that but for 

counsel’s deficiency, the result would have been different.  Thomas, 109 

Wn.2d at 226.  DeMarce was an important witness for the State.  She 

testified that on January 5, 2014, the day Hargrove died, Cushman was 

“really worked up,” “visibly upset,” and “looked like he was tearing up.”  

8RP 471-72.  DeMarce eavesdropped as Cushman told Jones “he had 

pushed [Hargrove], but not harmed her.”  8RP 473.  When DeMarce 

accompanied Cushman and Jones to the police station the following day, 

DeMarce claimed she heard Cushman tell Jones, “It is okay, I did 

something really stupid.  It is okay I -- I covered it up.”  8RP 480.   

In closing, the State pointed to DeMarce’s testimony to argue 

Cushman’s “own statements” showed “he murdered Amy Hargrove.”  

8RP 1223-24.  In rebuttal, the State again emphasized “[a]t the end of the 

day, what Bonnie came in and testified to was the defendant had said he 

did something stupid and took steps to cover it up.  There is no changing 

what the defendant said.”  15RP 1336. 

Defense counsel argued the “really stupid” thing Cushman tried to 

cover up was the no-contact order violation.  See, e.g., 8RP 488; 15RP 

1306-07.  This argument may not have been particularly persuasive, 
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though, because there was no dispute Cushman was at Hargrove’s 

apartment on January 5 and Cushman readily admitted to the police that he 

violated the no-contact order.  12RP 1095.  Indeed, the State responded in 

rebuttal: “There was no covering up violations of the no-contact order that 

were plain as day.”  12RP 1336.   

Had the jury heard evidence impeaching DeMarce’s credibility, 

there would have been a basis to seriously question her account of 

Cushman’s statements.  Without that impeachment evidence, though, the 

jury had no reason to doubt the truth of DeMarce’s testimony.  Defense 

counsel needed this opportunity to undermine her credibility and call into 

question her damaging testimony, but inexplicably failed to take it.   

Both prongs of the Strickland test are satisfied, warranting this 

Court’s review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) as a significant question of 

constitutional law.  This Court should grant review, reverse the court of 

appeals, and remand for a new trial because Cushman was denied effective 

assistance of counsel.  Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 232. 

2. THIS COURT’S REVIEW IS WARRANTED TO 

DETERMINE WHETHER COUNSEL WAS 

INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO MAKE A VIABLE 

SAME CRIMINAL CONDUCT ARGUMENT AT 

SENTENCING. 

 

When a person is sentenced for two or more current offenses, “the 

sentence range for each current offense shall be determined by using all 
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other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for the 

purpose of the offender score” unless the crimes involve the “same 

criminal conduct.”  RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).  “Same criminal conduct” 

means two or more crimes that involve “the same criminal intent, are 

committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim.”  Id.  

Failure to argue same criminal conduct when such an argument is 

warranted constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel.  State v. Phuong, 

174 Wn. App. 494, 546-48, 299 P.3d 37 (2013); State v. Saunders, 120 

Wn. App. 800, 824-25, 86 P.3d 232 (2004). 

The court of appeals rejected Cushman’s same criminal conduct 

argument on two grounds.  First, the court held that, “because these crimes 

do not involve the same victim, they do not encompass the same criminal 

conduct.”  Opinion, 19.  The court relied on its prior decision in Moreno in 

reaching this conclusion.  Opinion, 19.  Moreno made a single statement 

that “the legislature recognized that violation of a no-contact order is a 

crime against the court and punishable as contempt of court.”  132 Wn. 

App. at 671 (citing RCW 26.50.110(3)).  This Court’s review is warranted 

to determine whether the Moreno court’s holding on this point is correct. 

RCW 26.50.110(3) states VNCO “shall also constitute contempt of 

court, and is subject to the penalties prescribed by law.”  The Moreno court’s 

broad conclusion from this single provision conflicts with RCW 9.94A.411, 
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which categorizes a domestic violence court order violation as a crime 

against persons.  See also RCW 26.50.110(5) (referring to the “victims 

specifically protected by the orders the offender violated” (emphasis added)).  

By contrast, for instance, drug crimes are crimes against the public and are 

not listed as crimes against persons or property.  State v. Garza-Villarreal, 

123 Wn.2d 42, 47, 864 P.2d 1378 (1993).  Similarly, crimes like perjury and 

witness tampering—likely crimes against the court—are categorized as 

“other crimes” and not as crimes against persons.  RCW 9.94A.411. 

The fact that a domestic violence court order violation is a crime 

against a person makes sense, given some of the factors that elevate the 

offense to a felony.  For instance, “[a]ny assault” that does not amount to a 

first or second degree assault, or, as in this case, any conduct “that is reckless 

and creates a substantial risk of death of serious physical injury to another 

person.”  RCW 26.50.110(4).  The purpose of these elevating factors “is to 

enhance the penalty for violation of a no-contact order when the violation is 

based on an assault rather than on nonassaultive conduct.”  State v. Ward, 

148 Wn.2d 803, 810, 64 P.3d 640 (2003).  Assault is, of course, also a crime 

against persons.  RCW 9.94A.411. 

The Moreno court’s statement further conflicts with the primary 

purpose of protection orders like the one entered in this case, which is to 

protect victims of domestic violence from further abuse and harassment.  
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See RCW 26.50.060; Ex. 30.  The Moreno court itself recognized 

“important aspects of [the Domestic Violence Protection Act, chapter 

26.50 RCW] are to prevent domestic violence and to provide maximum 

protection to victims of abuse.”  132 Wn. App. at 670-71.  A search of the 

case law reveals hundreds of cases that consider the individual who is the 

subject of the protection order to be the victim.  In an analogous context, 

the court of appeals found multiple no-contact order violations to 

constitute a continuing course of conduct where they involved the same 

parties (the defendant and the victim) and the same ultimate purpose (to 

contact and confront the victim).  State v. Brown, 159 Wn. App. 1, 14-15, 

248 P.3d 518 (2010).  Thus, the victim of both the murder and the no-

contact order violation was the protected party, Hargrove.   

Second, the court of appeals rejected Cushman’s argument because 

“the Constitution does not require appointed counsel to be inspired. It 

requires counsel to be, at least, reasonably competent. We see no indication 

that counsel’s performance fell below that standard.”  Opinion, 19.  In his 

briefing below, Cushman highlighted the conflict between this Court’s 

precedent in Chenoweth and Dunaway.   

The Dunaway court held that, in determining whether two offenses 

involve the same criminal intent, “trial courts should focus on the extent to 

which the criminal intent, as objectively viewed, changed from one crime 
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to the next.”  109 Wn.2d at 215.  This analysis includes whether the 

crimes were “intimately related or connected to another criminal event,” 

whether the objective substantially changed between the crimes, whether 

one crime furthered the other, and whether both crimes were part of the 

same scheme or plan.  Id. at 214-15 (quoting State v. Adcock, 36 Wn. 

App. 699, 706, 676 P.2d 1040 (1984)); State v. Burns, 114 Wn.2d 314, 

318, 788 P.2d 531 (1990).   

In Chenoweth, this Court looked to the “statutory criminal intent” in 

holding first degree incest and third degree child rape were not the same 

criminal conduct, because “[t]he intent to have sex with someone related 

to you differs from the intent to have sex with a child.”  185 Wn.2d at 223.  

But child rape is a strict liability offense with no mens rea element.  RCW 

9A.64.020(1)(a); RCW 9A.44.079(1).  This suggests the “same criminal 

intent” required for same criminal conduct under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) 

must mean the defendant’s criminal purpose rather than the statutory 

intent, because many crimes do not have statutory intents, like the child 

rape at issue in Chenoweth.   

The tension between Dunaway and Chenoweth is causing confusion 

among courts and practitioners of this state.  Clarification from this Court is 

necessary, particularly in a case like Cushman’s, where the second degree 

murder and FVNCO arguably have different statutory intents, but the 
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convictions were based on a single, continuous act of strangulation.  The 

State relied on the same act of strangulation to prove both second degree 

murder and FVNCO.  14RP 1236 (“[W]hat he did was create a risk of 

serious injury or reckless risk of serious injury or death by assaulting Amy 

Hargrove, where not only was there a risk, but there was a risk of fruition 

in the end of Amy Hargrove’s life.”), 1236 (“His violation of that order 

[was], in fact, not only the reckless risk of serious injury or death, but he, 

in fact, caused her death.”).   

This Court’s review is therefore warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) 

and (4), given the clarification necessary as to whether the court is the 

victim of domestic violence VNCO and the clarification needed regarding 

the tension between Dunaway and Chenoweth.  

3. THIS COURT SHOULD ALSO ACCEPT REVIEW OF 

CUSHMAN’S CHALLENGE IN HIS STATEMENT OF 

ADDITIONAL GROUNDS FO REVIEW. 

 

In his Statement of Additional Grounds for Review, filed October 14, 

2017, Cushman argued his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to request 

an instruction on the lesser included offense of first degree manslaughter.  

The court of appeals rejected Cushman’s argument, holding “such an 

instruction would be inconsistent with defense counsel’s trial theory—

general denial—because it would place counsel in the position of presenting 
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two conflicting defenses to the jury.”  Opinion, 20 n.8.  Cushman also 

respectfully requests review of this issue. 

E. CONCLUSION 

For the aforementioned reasons, Cushman respectfully requests that 

this Court grant review and reverse the court of appeals. 

DATED this 24th day of July, 2018. 

  Respectfully submitted,  

  NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 
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DWYER, J. — Burrell Cushman appeals from the judgment and sentence

entered on a jury's verdicts convicting him of one count of murder in the second

degree and one count of felony violation of a no-contact order. He contends that

the trial court erred by admitting testimony of his prior acts of domestic violence

against the murder victim, that he received ineffective assistance of counsel

because his lawyer at trial did not impeach a State witness with a nearly decade-

old misdemeanor theft conviction and did not argue at sentencing an inspired

theory of same criminal conduct, and that the prosecutor's rebuttal argument in

closing deprived him of his right to a fair trial. Concluding that there was no error,

we affirm.'

I Cushman also submits a pro se statement of additional grounds setting forth an
Ineffective assistance of counsel argument that does not merit appellate relief.
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I

This matter arises from the murder of Amy Hargrove and the criminal

prosecution of Cushman. In 2008, Cushman and Hargrove began dating and, In

2010, they had a child together. In the months following their child's birth,

however, Cushman was seen engaging in several menacing and threatening

acts toward Hargrove.

According to Jennifer Hallman, a coworker and close friend of Hargrove,

Cushman had on at least two occasions appeared at Hargrove's workplace upset

and intoxicated. While there, he "would yell and scream at [Hargrove], would

threaten her, [and] would verbally abuse her." In response to Cushman's

aggressive conduct, Hargrove and Hallman would lock themselves in a room and

request that the building's security remove him from the premises. On one such

occasion, Cushman threatened Hargrove, "If you try and take my kid from me, I

will fucking kill you."

Hallman also recalled an incident in 2011 when Cushman and Hargrove

visited her house after work Hallman stated that Cushman had become "very

upset about a very small reason," and picked up a "very large vase," aimed it at

Hargrove's head, and threw it at her. The vase did not make contact with

Hargrove.

Hargrove ended her relationship with Cushman in 2011.

By 2012, Hargrove and the child that she conceived with Cushman were

living in the home of her mother, Janet Ford. Ford recalled that, after Hargrove

terminated her relationship with Cushman, Cushman nevertheless visited
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Hargrove at Ford's home. On one such occasion, Ford overheard heated

argument between Cushman and Hargrove followed by a "loud thud" and the

sound of Hargrove screaming. When Ford located Hargrove, she was crying and

covering her face and one of her eyes was red. Ford believed that Cushman had

punched Hargrove in the face. She ordered Cushman out of her home and

indicated that she would never allow him back into her home.

Shortly thereafter, Hargrove obtained a one-year no-contact order against

Cushman, prohibiting him from approaching her or their child. To Ford's

knowledge at that time, Hargrove and Cushman had no further interaction with

each other.

Hargrove renewed the one-year no-contact order in May 2013. By mid-

2013, Hargrove had moved into the mother-in-law unit attached to Ford's home.

Beginning in November 2013, Hargrove and Cushman began to contact

each other in an attempt to repair their prior relationship. Hargrove did not tell

Ford that she was again seeing Cushman.

On the weekend of January 4, 2014, Hargrove arranged for Paula

Cushman, Burrell Cushman's mother, to take care of Hargrove's and Cushman's

child for the weekend. Paula picked up the child and also exchanged telephone

calls and text messages with Hargrove throughout the weekend until the early

afternoon of January 5. After then, Paula received no further communication

from Hargrove.
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Also during the afternoon of January 5, Paula spoke with Cushman over

the telephone. Cushman told her that he and Hargrove had been fighting, that

there was some pushing, yelling, and screaming, and that he had a "bad feeling."

The next day, January 6, after Hargrove neither appeared at a family

function nor responded to Ford's text messages from the day before, Ford

entered the mother-in-law unit attached to her home. There, in the bedroom, she

found Hargrove dead.

Hargrove's body was fully clothed, partially covered by blankets, and had

been positioned face down on the bed's mattress. Placed over Hargrove's upper

torso was a hooded, zippered sweatshirt with the hood's draw string pulled all the

way to the end of its length. The cause of Hargrove's death was alleged to be

asphyxiation by strangulation and her death was alleged to have occurred during

the afternoon of January 5.

Further investigation of the mother-in-law unit uncovered that a burner on

the kitchen stove had been left on, that cooking oil had been tossed around the

kitchen, and that a space heater had been activated to a high temperature setting

and placed underneath the bed where Hargrove's body had been discovered,

with a blanket draped over it. Notwithstanding these circumstances, no fire had

broken out.

When Paula returned to Hargrove's residence on January 6 and spoke

with the law enforcement officers present, she informed them of her telephone

conversation with Cushman during the late afternoon of January 5.
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At Paula's direction, Cushman contacted law enforcement. He was invited

to meet with detectives at the police station. When he accepted the invitation,

Cushman was driving in a car accompanied by two of his friends, Bonnie

DeMarce and Darryl Jones. DeMarce asked Cushman why he needed to go to

the police station. Cushman replied, "It is okay, I did something really stupid. It

is okay, 1— I covered it up."

While at the police station, Cushman acknowledged that he was with

Hargrove from Saturday, January 4, until Sunday, January 5, around 4:00 p.m.

The detectives noticed fresh abrasions and scratches on Cushman's hands and

forearms. He was later arrested and held on suspicion of a violation of the no-

contact order prohibiting him from having contact with Hargrove.

After further investigation, Cushman was charged with one count of

murder in the second degree, one count of attempted arson in the first degree,

and one count of felony violation of a no-contact order.

Prior to trial, a hearing occurred to determine whether Hallman's and

Ford's testimony regarding their observations of Cushman's domestic violence

toward Hargrove between 2009 and 2012 should be admitted. Relying on the

State's offer of proof—and over Cushman's objection—the trial court admitted

Hallman's and Ford's testimony for the limited purpose of showing Cushman's

motive, res gestae, and the nature of Hargrove's and Cushman's relationship.

A 10-day trial commenced. The prosecutor called several witnesses,

including Hallman, Ford, and DeMarce. After the State rested its case in chief,

defense counsel called Burrell DeBose (Cushman's father) and Patricia Cook
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(DeBose's girlfriend) to support Cushman's general denial defense. The defense

witnesses testified that, on January 5, Cushman had arrived at DeBose's home

before the time at which Hargrove was alleged to have been murdered.

Thereafter, the defense rested.

Both parties then presented closing argument, during which no objections

were interposed.

The jury later returned verdicts finding Cushman guilty of one count of

murder in the second degree and one count of felony violation of a no-contact

order. The jury acquitted Cushman of the charged count of attempted arson in

the first degree. The jury further found that Cushman and Hargrove were

members of the same family or household at the time that the crimes of

conviction occurred.

At sentencing, the court determined that Cushman's prior criminal

convictions and then-current crimes of conviction warranted an offender score of

5 for sentencing purposes. Defense counsel objected, but acknowledged that his

objection was based on policy—rather than legal—grounds. Defense counsel's

objection was overruled.

Thereafter, the court imposed a sentence at the top of the standard range.

Cushman was ordered to be incarcerated for 275 months for his conviction of

second degree murder and, concurrently, 43 months for his conviction of felony

violation of a no-contact order.
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II

A

Cushman contends that the trial court erred by allowing the State to

introduce evidence of his prior verbal and physical abuse of Hargrove—acts

occurring nearly two years before her murder—on the basis that his acts were

probative of Cushman's motive to kill Hargrove. We disagree.

"Under ER 404(b) evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is

presumptively inadmissible to prove character and show action in conformity

therewith." State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995) (citing ER

404(b); Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 221, 867 P.2d 610 (1994)). However,

such evidence may "be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive."

ER 404(b).

We review a trial court's ruling pursuant to ER 404(b) for an abuse of

discretion. State v. Vy Thanq 145 Wn.2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002) (citing

State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 627-28, 801 P.2d 193 (1990)). Abuse of

discretion occurs "only where the decision of the trial court was manifestly

unreasonable or based on untenable grounds." State v. Freeburg 105 Wn. App.

492, 497, 20 P.3d 984 (2001) (citing Powell, 126 Wn.2d at 258). A trial court

abuses its discretion only if no reasonable judge would adopt the view espoused

by the trial court. State v. Demerv, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001).

For evidence of prior bad acts to be admissible, a trial judge
must "(1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the
misconduct occurred, (2) Identify the purpose for which the
evidence is sought to be introduced, (3) determine whether the
evidence is relevant to prove an element of the crime charged, and
(4) weigh the probative value against the prejudicial effect? Nli
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Thanq, 145 Wn.2d at 642 (citing 'State v.1 Lough, 125 Wn.2d [847,]
853[, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)]). "This analysis must be conducted on
the record? State v. Foxhoven 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786
(2007) (citing State v. Smith, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951
(1986)). The trial court must also give a limiting instruction to the
jury if the evidence is admitted. Id. (citing Lough, 125 Wn.2d at
864).

State v. Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916, 923, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014).

"Motive, for purposes of the admissibility of evidence under ER 404(b),

'goes beyond gain and can demonstrate an impulse, desire, or any other moving

power which causes an individual to act.'" State v. Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468,

473-74, 259 P.3d 270 (2011) (quoting Powell, 126 Wn.2d at 259).

A number of cases dealing with the admissibility of evidence
of prior assaults and quarrels have found that "[e]vidence of
previous quarrels and ill-feeling is admissible to show motive:
State v. Hover, 105 Wash. 160, 163, 177 P.683 (1919). Evidence
of prior threats is also admissible to show motive or malice. State
v. Gates, 28 Wash. 689, 697-98, 69 P. 385 (1902); see generally
(State v. lAmerick[, 42 Wn.2d 504, 256 P.2d 278 (1953)]; 1 Charles
E. Torcia, Wharton's Criminal Evidence § 110, at 389-90 (14th ed.
1985). However, such evidence must also be of consequence to
the action to justify its admission. Since establishing motive is often
necessary when only circumstantial proof of guilt exists, prior
misconduct evidence that demonstrates motive is of consequence
to the action in a case such as this. See WAYNE R. LAFAVE &
AUSTIN W. SCOTT, JR. CRIMINAL LAW § 3.6, at 227 (2d ed. 1986).

Powell 126 Wn.2d at 260 (emphasis added); see also State v. Athan, 160 Wn.2d

354, 382, 158 P.3d 27 (2007) (citing Powell 126 Wn.2d at 260). Indeed, to show

motive, u[e]vidence of a past attack by a defendant toward a victim is admissible

pursuant to ER 404(b) if the evidence demonstrates an ill feeling between the

two." State v. Arredondo, 188 Wn.2d 244, 260, 394 P.3d 348 (2017) (citing

Powell, 126 Wn.2d at 260-61) (defendant's involvement in prior shooting

demonstrates "highly strained and toxic relationship between local ... gang
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members"). Notably, both our Supreme Court and this court have affirmed trial

court rulings admitting evidence of a defendant's prior acts of domestic violence

in an intimate partner murder prosecution when the evidence was offered to

show the defendant's motive. See, e.g., Americk, 42 Wn.2d at 506-08. State v. 

Neslund, 50 Wn. App. 531, 545, 559, 749 P.2d 725 (1988).

Here, the trial judge explained,

Okay. Well, here is what we've got, let me see if I can break this
down for you. We have observations by witnesses, we have Janet
Ford, who the State tells me, and I assume that the State's
representations about what these witnesses have said in interviews
is sufficiently accurate, that the State can at least present these
incidents by a preponderance of the evidence. The other witnesses
— so In terms of observed behavior, we have Janet Ford, who
indicates that back in 2009, 2010, that she saw arguments between
the defendant and the victim and she saw, on one occasion, when
the victim had a black eye. We have Jennifer Hallman who,
apparently knew the parties between 2008 to late 2013, in
particular, 2009 to 2012. And from what 1 gathered from the State,
she actually saw the defendant throw a — at the victim, she heard
that the defendant threaten to kill the victim if she took Levy. She
saw the defendant coming to the work place, she saw the victim
lock herself in a closet, and she saw security escort the defendant
from the property. This is all observed behavior, not statements
from the victim.

From this, the trial court reasoned,

[E]vidence of a troubled, hostile, angry, or otherwise dysfunctional
relationship seems usually to be admissible to show motive, in
particular, in a situation where the State's evidence is
circumstantial, which is this case, primarily. There is no direct
evidence in this case that I can see, other than the DNA evidence,
and I think when you have parties with an intimate relationship, it is
still circumstantial, at bottom. So it seems to me, to the extent we
have observed behavior here, the observed arguments, the
observed black eye, the observed throwing of the vase, the
observed threats to kill, the observed coming to the work place, the
observed locking of the victim of herself in a closet, the
observations of the defendant being escorted from the property,
this all tends to be evidence that establishes the nature of this
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relationship. And to the extent that the text messages between the
parties show close in time the event, that the relationship continued
to be a troubled one with a lot of tension between the two of them,
under the existing cases that I have seen, that is admissible to
establish motive. And to the extent that these things are close in
time to the event, 1 do truly think they are res gestae in the sense of
completing the story of what the relationship between the parties
was.121

The trial court accordingly concluded,

Mhe behaviors that were reported herell tend to suggest that this
was an abusive, violent relationship, and that there was behavior
that indicated fear of the defendant and the need for the defendant
to be taken from the property tends to indicate that the defendant
understood there was fear of him, it tends to show the nature of the
relationship, and it tends to eliminate [sic] what his motive may
have been in killing this particular person in the circumstantial
evidence case. So !think it is probative on motive.

The trial judge's ruling was sound. The trial judge identified that Hallman's

and Ford's observation testimony was probative of Cushman's motive because

their testimony supported the allegation that Cushman had a history of abusive,

threatening, violent, assaultive, and controlling behavior toward Hargrove.

Moreover, as well-reasoned by the trial judge, this testimony was highly probative

in this matter because the State's murder charge was brought in significant

reliance on circumstantial evidence. Thus, the trial court did not abuse its

discretion.3 There was no error.

2 The trial court also ruled that the State could not offer the evidence of Cushman's prior
bad acts against Hargrove to support an alleged intent to commit the charged murder offense.

3 Cushman nevertheless relies on two appellate decisions, powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, and
Baker, 162 Wn. App. 468, for the proposition that "prior domestic violence between the defendant
and the victim Is not relevant or admissible to prove motive unless it is close In time to the current
offense." Br. of Appellant at 14. In each decision, however, the trial court's decision to admit the
evidence was affirmed by the appellate court and neither decision, In actuality, sets forth the
negative proposition proffered by Cushman. His reliance is thus unavailing.

Cushman also relies on our decision In State v. Sargent 40 Wn. App. 340, 351-52, 698
P.2d 598 (1985). However, because Sargent regarded evidence of a prior bad act offered to
show intent, rather than motive Sargent does not lend support to Cushman's argument
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B

Cushman next contends that he was denied effective assistance of

counsel because his attorney did not impeach DeMarce's testimony with a prior

third degree theft conviction. We disagree.

To establish a claim of constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel, a

defendant must establish "that (1) counsel's performance, when considered in

light of all the circumstances, fell below an objectively reasonable standard of

performance and (2) there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's

deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different."

State v. Woods, 198 Wn. App. 453, 461, 393 P.3d 886 (2017) (citing Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)).

Failure to satisfy either part of the analysis ends the inquiry. State v. 

Hendrickson 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). The defendant bears the

burden of demonstrating deficient representation and prejudice. In re Det. of

Hatfield, 191 Wn. App. 378, 401, 362 P.3d 997 (2015).

"Because the presumption runs in favor of effective representation, the

defendant must show in the record the absence of legitimate strategic or tactical

reasons supporting the challenged conduct by counsel." State v. McFarland, 127

Wn.2d 322, 336, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). "[T]he presumption of adequate

representation is not overcome if there is any 'conceivable legitimate tactic' that

can explain counsel's performance." Hatfield, 191 Wn. App. at 402 (emphasis

Cushman next relies on our Supreme Court's opinion in Gunderson, 181 Wn.2d 916. But
Gunderson regarded Inadmissible prior bad act evidence offered to Impeach the defendant's
testimony in the prosecution of a felony violation of a court order. The circumstances herein are
materially different.
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added) (quoting State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80

(2004)). Prejudice is established when there is a reasonable probability that the

outcome of the proceedings would have been different had counsel's

performance not been deficient. McFarland 127 Wn.2d at 337.

Here, prior to DeMarce's testimony, Cushman's counsel indicated that he

would not seek to impeach DeMarce's testimony with a pending misdemeanor

theft charge?' DeMarce then testified, stating that she was with Cushman when

he accepted law enforcement's invitation to go to the police station, that she had

Inquired of Cushman regarding his need to go to the police station, and that

Cushman had replied, "It is okay, I did something really stupid. It is okay, I— I

covered it up."

DeMarce later concluded her testimony and another witness testified.

Then, after the jury had been dismissed for the day, the trial judge notified

counsel for both parties that she had discovered that DeMarce had been

convicted of theft in the third degree on November 8, 2007, nearly a decade

earlier. Defense counsel for Cushman did not seek to recall DeMarce in order to

impeach her with this prior misdemeanor theft conviction.

At trial, defense counsel's trial theory was that Cushman had unknowingly

violated the no-contact order and was innocent of the murder and attempted

arson charges. In closing, defense counsel argued that the "something really

stupid" that Cushman was referring to was not murdering Hargrove but, rather,

was his covering up of the violation of the no-contact order.

4 The colloquy with the trial Judge reflected that DeMarce's pending misdemeanor theft
charge might be dismissed upon her completion of certain conditions.
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Defense counsel's representation was not constitutionally ineffective. It is

reasonably conceivable that defense counsel did not wish to impeach DeMarce

because such impeachment would not advance the defense theory of the case

that Cushman had been in the presence of Hargrove that day (in unknowing

violation of the no-contact order) but had not murdered her.5 Moreover, it is

conceivable that a reasonable defense counsel would not seek to recall a

witness that had already been excused to merely impeach the witness with a

decade-old misdemeanor theft conviction. Furthermore, it is a conceivable

legitimate tactic to refrain from impeaching a witness with such an old and minor

conviction when such impeachment might result in a negative emotional

response by the jury against defense counsel and, by association, against the

defense case.

Even had defense counsel's performance been deficient, there is not a

reasonable probability that, but for such performance, the result of the

proceeding would have been different. Indeed, assuming defense counsel had

impeached DeMarce with the nearly decade-old conviction, there remains in the

trial record testimony supporting Cushman's history of violence and abuse

toward Hargrove, testimony relating to Cushman's car being in the vicinity of

Hargrove's residence on January 5, the police interview of Cushman admitting

that he had visited Hargrove on January 5, and video camera footage showing

Jones and DeMarce getting into Cushman's car on the day that DeMarce

5 Indeed, defense counsel's theory was partially successful—the jury acquitted Cushman
of the charged count of attempted arson in the first degree, an offense with a greater seriousness
level than the crime of felony violation of a no-contact order. See RCW 9.94A.515, .525(6).
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testified that Cushman said that he did "something stupid." In this light, there is

no reasonable possibility that, had defense counsel impeached DeMarce with the

prior conviction, the jury's verdicts would have changed.

Cushman establishes neither requirement of the Strickland inquiry. He

was not denied his right to constitutionally effective representation. There was

no error.

C

Cushman next contends that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct that

deprived him of his right to a fair trial because the prosecutors statements in

rebuttal closing argument shifted the State's burden of proof. This is so,

Cushman asserts, because the prosecutor complimented defense counsel as a

"very good defense attorney" who "advocate[ed] in the strongest way the

defendant's best perspective." We disagree.

A criminal defendant has no duty to present evidence and it is error for the

prosecutor to suggest otherwise. State v. Cheatam, 150 Wn.2d 626, 652, 81

P.3d 830 (2003). An argument that shifts the State's burden to prove guilt

beyond a reasonable doubt constitutes misconduct. State v. Thorgerson, 172

Wn.2d 438, 453, 258 P.3d 43 (2011); State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 859-61,

147 P.3d 1201 (2006).

However, a prosecutor Is entitled to point out the improbability or lack of

evidentiary support for the defense theory of the case. State v. Russell, 125

Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994). A prosecutor has wide latitude to comment

on the evidence introduced at trial and to draw reasonable inferences from the
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evidence. Thomerson 172 Wn.2d at 448. The "mere mention that defense

evidence is lacking does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct or shift the

burden of proof to the defense." State v. Jackson 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86,

209 P.3d 553 (2009). We evaluate the challenged statements in "the context of

the prosecutor's entire argument, the issues in the case, the evidence discussed

in the argument, and the jury instructions." State v. Dhaliwal 150 Wn.2d 559,

578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003).

The prosecutor's statements in rebuttal closing argument began as

follows:

MR. DERNBACH: Thank you. So as the Court and Mr.
Hicks had pointed out, I bear the burden of proof, which is why I get
the last word. This is my opportunity to point out all of the reasons
why the arguments that Mr. Hicks made for you this morning do not
amount to a reasonable doubt in this case. Most of the reasons for
that is going to be because many of the arguments that Mr. Hicks
made were simply not supported by the facts and the evidence that
you have heard in this case.... The short answer in this case is
that I will remind you again, I will start where I began yesterday,
and that is with the burden of proof. And that the reasonable doubt
instruction that you have In instruction No. 3 sets forth that a
reasonable doubt is one in the mind of a reasonable person, based
on the evidence or lack of evidence. It is not something that's
made up, it is not something that's a phantom doubt, it is something
that is based upon the evidence or lack of evidence that you would
have seen in this courtroom.

Thereafter, the prosecutor stated that the argument presented by defense

counsel did not support a reasonable doubt based on the evidence adduced in

the case.

Now, I will say, as I think you probably have noticed in this trial, that
Mr. Hicks and I have a mutual respect for each other. He is a very
good defense attorney, we have often referred to each other as
opposing counsel, but I actually like to think of it more as partners
in justice. This system doesn't work without a prosecutor and
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defense attorney here. And it is helpful for both me, and / think it is
helpful for you to have somebody advocating in the strongest way
the defendant's best perspective on a case. Because when those
arguments fail, as they do in this case, it helps you to make a
decision beyond a reasonable doubt, based on the evidence that
you heard, in returning a guilty verdict

(Emphasis added.) Thereafter, the prosecutor individually addressed several "of

the arguments that defense counsel made." No objection was interposed in

response to these statements.

Notably,

[w]hen counsel does not object to a prosecutor's alleged
misconduct, request a curative instruction, or move for a mistrial,
appellate review of the prosecutor's conduct is precluded unless it
was misconduct so flagrant and ill intentioned that no instruction
could erase the prejudice engendered by it. State v. Belgarde, 110
Wn.2d 504, 507, 755 P.2d 174 (1988); State v. Dunaway, 109
Wn.2d 207, 221,743 P.2d 1237, corrected, 749 P.2d 160 (1987). If
unchallenged misconduct was so inflammatory that an instruction
would not have cured it, reversal of the conviction is required if
there is a substantial likelihood that the misconduct affected the
jury's decision. Belqarde, 110 Wn.2d at 509-10; State v. Barrow,
60 Wn. App. 869, 876, 809 P.2d 209, review denied, 118 Wn.2d
1007 (1991).

State v. Fiallo-Lopez, 78 Wn. App. 717, 726, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995).

Cushman does not establish that the prosecutors compliments to defense

counsel during closing argument constituted flagrant and ill-intentioned

misconduct. There is no clear indication that the prosecutor's statements

regarding defense counsel were a blatant attempt to shift the State's burden of

proof. Indeed, based on the context of the comments, it is clear that the

prosecutor was merely complimenting defense counsel's reputation and

performance, acknowledging the positive impact of good legal representation on
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the criminal justice system, and urging the jury to nevertheless reject defense

counsel's arguments.

Cushman nevertheless contends that the prosecutor's statements

Improperly shifted the State's burden of proof because the statements "asked the

jury to assume there was no reasonable doubt because defense counsel had not

supplied it." Br. of Appellant at 29.

Cushman does not show that the prosecutor's statements constituted

flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct. Cushman's argument is predicated on

the incorrect notion that the prosecutor had emphasized the lack of evidence

supplied by defense counsel. The prosecutor's rebuttal argument, however,

rather than emphasizing a lack of evidence adduced by defense counsel, iterated

that it was the defense counsel's arguments that were lacking. Indeed, the

prosecutor's argument in rebuttal explicitly stated that, notwithstanding defense

counsel's strong "advocac[y]" , defense counsel's "arguments fail." In this light,

the prosecutor's rebuttal argument did not mention—or even reasonably imply—

that defense counsel had an obligation to produce evidence or articulate reasons

to doubt the State's case. Thus, the prosecutors statements in rebuttal closing

argument did not improperly shift the State's burden of proof.6

There was no error.

6 Cushman relies on State v. Cleveland 58 Wn. App. 634, 794 P.2d 546 (1990), in
claimed support of his contention that the prosecutors rebuttal statements here at issue
improperly shifted the State's burden of proof. Cushman's reliance is unavailing. Unlike here,
Cleveland regarded not only prosecutorial misconduct to which an objection had been interposed
before the trial court but also involved statements that "a good defense attorney* like the defense
counsel therein "would not have overlooked any opportunity to present admissible, helpful
evidence to you"--1.e., closing argument improperly regarding defense counsel's evidence, rather
than defense counsel's arguments. 58 Wn. App. at 647.
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D

Cushman next contends that he received ineffective assistance of counsel

because his lawyer did not argue at sentencing that, for the purpose of

calculating his offender score, his convictions for murder in the second degree

and felony violation of a no-contact order constituted the same criminal conduct

We disagree.

As an initial matter, uncertainty over whether two acts constitute the same

criminal conduct for sentencing purposes does not allow Cushman to succeed on

an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Rather, for Cushman to prevail, he

must show that his counsel's performance was deficient and that this deficient

performance prejudiced his defense. Failure to establish either requirement is

fatal to a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 697.

Again, there is a strong presumption that counsel's representation was

effective. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d at 335. This presumption can be rebutted if the

defendant proves that his attorney's representation "'was unreasonable under

prevailing professional norms.'" In re Pers. Restraint of Davis, 152 Wn.2d 647,

673, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (quoting Kimmelman v. Morrison, 477 U.S. 365, 384, 106

S. Ct. 2574, 91 L Ed. 2d 305 (1986)). Notably, however, "[c]ounsel's failure to

raise [a] novel argument does not render his performance constitutionally

ineffective." Anderson v. United States, 393 F.3d 749, 754 (8th Cir. 2005).

Here, Cushman asserts that both the murder and felony violation of a no-

contact order involved the same intent, the same victim, and the same time and

place and that these crimes thus encompass the same criminal conduct.
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Therefore, Cushman continues, these crimes should have been counted as a

single crime for purposes of sentencing and his attorney should have so argued

at sentencing.

However, as we have previously explained, u[t]he legislature [has]

recognized that violation of a no-contact order is a crime against the court and

punishable as contempt of court." State v. Moreno, 132 Wn. App. 663, 671, 132

P.3d 1137 (2006) (emphasis added) (citing RCW 26.50.110(3)). Hence, because

these crimes do not involve the same victim, they do not encompass the same

criminal conduct. An argument to the contrary by Cushman's attorney would

have failed and, consequently, so must his claim for ineffective assistance of

counse1.7

Appellate counsel, highlighting the seeming inconsistencies between our

Supreme Court's decisions in State v. Chenoweth, 185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6

(2016), and State v. Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d 207, 743 P.2d 1237, 749 P.2d 160

(1988), nevertheless posits an inspired argument in favor of a determination that

Cushman's unlawful actions here at issue constituted the same criminal conduct

and that counsel was ineffective for failing to raise such an argument. However,

the Constitution does not require appointed counsel to be inspired. It requires

counsel to be, at least, reasonably competent. We see no indication that

counsel's performance fell below that standard.

7 Cushman presses an argument that Moreno was wrongly decided. However, an
attorney Is not constitutionally ineffective merely because the attorney chooses not to argue that
precedent should be overturned. Brown v. United States, 311 F.3d 875, 878 (8th dr. 2002)
r(Clounsel's decision not to raise an Issue unsupported by then-existing precedent did not
constitute ineffective assistance?).
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There was no error.8

Affirmed.

We concur:

igritc, /LC . Ad.

8 In a statement of additional grounds, Cushman contends that he received ineffective
assistance of counsel because his attorney did not request that the jury be Issued an instruction
on the lesser crime of manslaughter In the first degree. However, Cushman does not rebut the
presumption that his counsel was effective. Again, "the presumption of adequate representation
Is not overcome if there Is any 'conceivable legitimate tactic' that can explain counsel's
performance.' Hatfield 191 Wn. App. at 402 (emphasis added) (quoting Feichenbach 153
Wn.2d at 130).

Here, we can conceive of a legitimate tactic supporting defense counsel's alleged
omission. Indeed, requesting such an instruction would be Inconsistent with defense counsel's
trial theory—general denial—because it would place counsel in the position of presenting two
conflicting defenses to the jury: that Cushman was Innocent of killing Hargrove and, alternatively,
that he had killed Hargrove but had committed the act while under a less culpable mental state
than that required for the charge of murder in the second degree. It is a legitimate tactic for
defense counsel to elect to not present such conflicting defenses to the jury. This Is especially so
when, as here, defense counsel successfully sought a lesser included offense instruction on
murder in the second degree. Counsel's decision was both tactical and successful.

There was no error.
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